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This book is dedicated to the two airmen who never left Buchenwald:

Flying Officer Philip Derek Hemmens, RAF

First Lieutenant Levitt Clinton Beck, Jr, USAAF






‘Only those who have been prisoners have any conception of the horrors of being a prisoner, or of the ineffable joy of release; of the terrible rise and fall of the spirit, the fluctuations between the delirium of happiness and madness of despair, attendant upon the fluctuating hopes and fears as the possibility of release advances and retreats.’

Percival Christopher Wren, Beggars’ Horses
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FOREWORD

IT IS DIFFICULT TO COMPREHEND the totality of the evil which existed in Buchenwald, just as it is beyond human understanding to grasp the meaning of ‘The Absolute’ or the ultimate and unknowable. It was an evil as black as night.

I am honoured to be asked to write a foreword to Colin Burgess’ excellent and well-researched book which opens the gates on one of Hitler’s most notorious concentration camps, and leaves us in no doubt about the brutality and bestiality which caused tens of thousands to suffer the torments of Hell. We can feel the blows of the SS, hear the stamping of jackboots and the screams of the prisoners resounding across the Appellplatz [parade ground] through lice-infested huts, the stinking aborts [toilets], the places of execution and the crematorium.

The Allied airmen who arrived in Buchenwald during that summer of 1944, when our armies were sweeping towards Paris, were all young men who had been on normal air operations; they had no expectation, if sanguine, of eventual survival; if unlucky they could expect ‘the chop’ or if very unlucky they might end up in a prisoner of war camp – such was an airman’s outlook during the war. Instead they were fated to undergo a nightmare experience which nearly had a macabre ending for them all. Shot down, often betrayed on the escape line, handed over to the Gestapo, imprisoned in Fresnes where they were beaten and tortured, packed tightly into cattle trucks, they were transported to Buchenwald, or ‘Forest of Beeches’ – surely the most euphemistic name for the death camp into which they were clubbed and kicked by demented SS guards.

The horrendous crimes committed in Nazi concentration camps have been well documented since the war. It is still difficult for most people to imagine how it felt to be subjected to such degrading and inhuman treatment, which left permanent physical and mental scars on many survivors, even destroying some. When the airmen were released and sent to Stalag Luft III they tried to describe their experiences, but the other prisoners of war had great difficulty in believing them. I spent over a year in the concentration camps of Sachsenhausen, Flossenbürg and Dachau, and so I know something of what the airmen must have suffered in Buchenwald. My experience came after I had been in normal prisoner of war camps so I was at least inured to barbed wire, but for all of us the dividing line between life and death was very thin.

The utter despair, exhaustion, starvation and death engendered by the deliberate Nazi system of brutality and sadism operated by the Kommandant, his vicious wife and the SS guards are described in horrifying detail; the murder of the gypsy children and the strangulation of the SOE agents are indelibly printed on the mind. Shafts of light relieve the blackness of this hell on earth; there is the resolute and wise leadership of the New Zealand Squadron Leader Phil Lamason, the fortitude of all airmen under the most harrowing conditions, the humour, resource and heroism of Wing Commander Yeo-Thomas (the White Rabbit) and the final miracle of the release engineered by the SOE agent Christopher Burney who, himself, narrowly escaped a ghastly death.

Squadron Leader Stanley Booker describes his first return to Buchenwald after nearly 40 years: ‘No birds sang and the ghosts of the past rose up to haunt me’. I returned to Sachsenhausen with Colonel Jack Churchill in 1975, 30 years after liberation; it was, like Buchenwald, a vast, bare and silent memorial. We went into the Zellenbau [cell block] where we had spent five months in death cells. The aura of evil had lingered on; I felt the cold hand of death once more on me, and suddenly the ghosts of so many tortured and murdered here seemed very close.

Should we not lay these troublesome ghosts of the past? It is traumatic, for those who experienced them, to recall the horrors of the concentration camps, but we feel we should remind the world, particularly those unborn at the time, that such things can happen in any country if freedom is not guarded.

Squadron Leader B. A. James, MC, RAF (1915–2008)






ABOUT THE FOREWORD WRITER

I WAS PRIVILEGED TO HAVE had a lengthy correspondence and friendship over many years with Squadron Leader Bertram Arthur James, MC, better known as ‘Jimmy’ James, and we even met once in London – a truly memorable day. Jimmy was one of the motivators and heroes of the so-called ‘Great Escape’ from Stalag Luft III, the German POW camp in Sagan, Lower Silesia, Nazi Germany (now Żagań, Poland). An incorrigible and determined evader, James had a long history of bold escape attempts before being sent off to Stalag Luft III, where he became part of the famed ‘X’ escape organisation under fellow squadron leader, Roger Bushell.

On the evening of 24/25 March 1944, a total of 76 prisoners managed to crawl through a top-secret, 120-yard tunnel codenamed ‘Harry’ before the sentries were alerted and shots were fired. Jimmy James was the 39th person to scramble out through the exit of the tunnel to begin his long and hopeful road to freedom. This time his bid failed when he was captured trying to make his way into (then) Czechoslovakia. Eventually all but three of the Great Escapers – two Norwegians and a Dutchman – were rounded up and held by the Gestapo. When he heard about the enormity of the mass escape, Adolf Hitler was furious, demanding that all of those recaptured be shot. Fortunately for many, the chief of the Luftwaffe, Hermann Goering, intervened, fearing reprisals against captured German airmen. He persuaded Hitler to reduce that number. Hitler did relent, reluctantly, but only by reducing the number to be executed to fifty. Those recaptured, including Roger Bushell, were informed that they were being returned to the POW camp and were taken out to vehicles singly or in pairs. While enjoying a ‘rest stop’ during the journey they were callously shot down in cold blood. Only fifteen of the escapers were eventually sent back to Stalag Luft III, while another eight, including James, were illegally – under the terms of the Geneva Convention – sent to the concentration camp at Sachsenhausen, where they were interrogated under torture.

Despite where he was being held, James was resolute in trying to escape, and was soon involved in digging yet another tunnel – an activity in this camp punishable by death. He and five other prisoners managed to escape through the tunnel, but he was recaptured two weeks later and fortunately returned to Sachsenhausen, when he too could have been shot. He was eventually freed by troops of the American Army on 3 May 1945, just five days before the German surrender.

Post-war, Jimmy James was awarded the Military Cross (MC) and was Mentioned in Despatches for his many escape attempts before retiring from the RAF as a squadron leader in 1958. He subsequently became general secretary of the Great Britain–USSR Association and joined the diplomatic service in 1964, retiring in 1975. His self-penned escape story Moonless Night was published in 2001, and he also served as the British representative on the international Sachsenhausen committee for most of the remainder of his life.

Squadron Leader B. A. ‘Jimmy’ James, one of the war’s greatest escapers, died in Royal Shrewsbury Hospital on 18 January 2008, at the age of 92.






INTRODUCTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

IN AUGUST 1944, 168 BRITISH and Allied airmen were herded together and locked into filthy, overcrowded railway cattle wagons and transported from Fresnes prison in Paris, where they had been subjected to brutal interrogation and beatings, to Buchenwald concentration camp – one of Hitler’s earliest slave labour centres. The orders accompanying them were explicit: the transportation document stated ‘Not to be transferred to another camp’. In less couched terms, they were to be secretly eliminated.

Counted amongst this number were eleven men from Australia and New Zealand who went to war with the customary pride of country and Empire, resplendent in their fine new air force uniforms, and ready to dish out a lesson to Hitler and his all-conquering Third Reich. Instead, they found themselves shot down and fleeing their enemy over the muddy fields of France and Belgium, relying on the goodness and fortitude of the local people.

In a collective sense, this is not a book about heroes, nor of heroic circumstance. It is a distressing and true story of a group of ordinary men who were forever touched by the most horrifying aspect of any war – the evil of mankind.

This book was originally begun in 1987 – a year designated the International Year of Peace. But for the men whose stories are told in these pages there has been no real peace. Post-war, many found themselves still struggling to comprehend the terrible things they witnessed in their youth, and the memories, vividly emblazoned in their minds, ensured that they would never know true peace within themselves. For them the war was not ennobling, and they were combatants who did not return from the war purified in spirit and soul. Rather, they came back scarred and skeletal, strangers to their loved ones, their sleep pervaded to the end of their days by terrifying nightmares.

I have presented here the stories of the nine Australians and two New Zealand airmen who, together with 157 of their fellow aircrew, made that harrowing journey into the vile jaws of Buchenwald. Their stories are meant to be representative of the rest – the men from Canada, Britain and the United States. Every incident in this book is factual, and the draft was meticulously read by many of the principals to ensure complete authenticity. Some liberties have, of necessity, been taken with conversations, but these are carefully based on the actual dialogue as recalled by the men involved.

I have several to acknowledge for their kind assistance and support for what I was doing in putting this story into book form. I could never hope to repay in kind the time, efforts and open hospitality they gave me, nor their trust in allowing me to intrude in deep-rooted personal memories and profound emotions, which gave me a rare and truly unforgettable insight.

Firstly, my thanks to the Australians and New Zealanders who, without exception, gave me their stories over many meetings and much correspondence, and to their wives and families who in many instances learned for the first time some of the horrors their men had witnessed and endured.

Thanks also to Art and Betty Kinnis from Victoria, British Columbia, Canada, both now sadly deceased, who twice threw their home open to their Australian visitor at short notice. Art, one of the Canadian airmen and for many years principal motivator of the KLB (Konzentrationslager Buchenwald) Club, not only gave me immediate support and much-needed information, but endorsed my efforts to other KLB airmen across Canada and the United States following our first meeting, initiating a welcome flood of valuable information and anecdotal material.

Other KLB members who assisted me were Leo Grenon, Willie Waldrum, Dave High, Ed Carter-Edwards and Bill Gibson from Canada. Additionally, Jim Hastin, Bill Powell, Joe Moser, John Crawford and Stratton Appleman of the United States readily replied to my every query, while in England, Stanley Booker MBE, Ian Robb, Bill Hegarty, Ron Leverington, Reg Joyce, Eric Davis and Ken Chapman were undaunted in their efforts to ensure I had all the facts I needed.

For providing information and tributes, I wish to acknowledge further sources: former Federal Minister Robert Tickner AO, in Australia, and ex-RAAF Pilot Officer George Mulvaney, as well as Barbara Yeo-Thomas, John Marpole, Phil Bear and Kevin Murphy in England. From France, former members of the Resistance Henri Theron and Madame Denise Lorach from the Musée de la Résistance et de la Déportation in Besançon, and French Ambassador Stéphane Hessel. Lorie Acton at the Smithsonian Institution in Washington, DC, Frederick Martini and Dr Thomas Hofmann at the Bundesarchiv in Koblenz, Germany, and Chana Byers Abells from Yad Vashem in Jerusalem all provided much-needed information and photographs. Dr Bodo Ritscher from the Buchenwald Memorial Museum also proved to be of considerable and unstinting assistance.

I was pleased to allow the original edition of this book to be used as a source for a tribute book on the life of Squadron Leader Phil Lamason, who had assumed leadership of the 168 airmen in Buchenwald. This impressive and informative book was published in New Zealand as I Would Not Step Back in 2017, researched and written by Hilary Pedersen and associated writers. In turn, I recently requested permission to use some of the background information contained in that book, which was happily allowed.

Two long-time chums and avid POW researchers in England, Michael Booker and David Ray, gave me the same effusive and expert help as with my earlier books on the POW experience, while Jonathan Vance in Canada once again came up trumps with information and addresses. Author and military historian Alan Cooper was of tremendous help in London in guiding me to the correct documentary sources at the Public Records Office in Kew, while the late Don Charlwood, an outstanding Australian author and friend, read through the first draft of the manuscript and offered valuable suggestions for enhancing its structure and content. I was also grateful to the remarkable B. A. ‘Jimmy’ James, the author of the absorbing Moonless Night, who played an integral role in the ill-fated Great Escape from Stalag Luft III in March 1944. He kindly stepped in at my request and undertook the task of writing the foreword to this book following the sad and untimely death of Group Captain Leonard Trent, VC, DFC, who had earlier agreed to take on that task for me. He had been another surviving participant in the Great Escape.

Immeasurable thanks also to Paul Rea, one of the most dedicated and thorough journalists I have ever known, whose unswerving desire to see proper and grossly belated justice for Australian and New Zealand servicemen wrongly incarcerated in Nazi concentration camps saw him engaged in a quixotic search through records worldwide, and in the ministerial halls of Canberra. This book owes its origins to you, and to a chance remark you made that I should look into the Buchenwald story. Paul’s superb 2007 book Voices from the Fortress: The Extraordinary Stories of Australia’s Forgotten Prisoners of War is a necessary follow-on to his award-winning documentary Where Death Wears a Smile, revealing how captured Australian and Allied servicemen were wrongly sent to the infamous Theresienstadt concentration camp. It is a great and moving cry for long overdue justice.

I would also like to acknowledge yet again the excellent team at Simon & Schuster Australia for their ongoing support and appreciation of my efforts. As always, Managing Editor Michelle Swainson has been my guiding light throughout the preparation of this manuscript, ably assisted by Editor Rosie Outred and Copyeditor Mark Evans – thank you for your meticulous work in correcting my errors and your many helpful suggestions. Thank you also to Luke Causby for his brilliant cover design.

And finally to my wife Pat, for her inestimable support for what I was doing, my enduring love and gratitude.






AUSTRALIAN AND NEW ZEALAND AIRMEN IN BUCHENWALD

Australia:


	Flight Sergeant Mervyn James Fairclough (1923-1964), Moora, Western Australia
Serial No. 427078. Buchenwald No. 78427



	Flight Sergeant James Percival Gwilliam (1923-2002), Bathurst, New South Wales
Serial No. 432355. Buchenwald No. 78423



	Flight Sergeant Eric Lyle Johnston (1922-2003), Northcote, Victoria
Serial No. 418951. Buchenwald No. 78421



	Flying Officer Kevin William Light, DFM (1921-2008), Randwick, New South Wales
Serial No. 402447. Buchenwald No. 78381



	Warrant Officer Thomas Alexander Malcolm (1921-2002), Hawthorn, Victoria
Serial No. 418755. Buchenwald No. 78379



	
Flight Sergeant Keith Cyril Mills (1924-2012), Mackay, Queensland
Serial No. 425954. Buchenwald No. 78426



	Pilot Officer Robert Neil Mills (1924-1990), Salisbury, South Australia
Serial No. 417883. Buchenwald No. 78405



	Flight Sergeant Raymond Walter Perry (1923-1997), Belka, Western Australia
Serial No. 415738. Buchenwald No. 78355



	Flight Sergeant Lesley Keith Whellum (1923-2003), Kensington, South Australia
Serial No. 417545. Buchenwald No. 78442





New Zealand:


	Squadron Leader Phillip John Lamason, DFC and Bar (1918-2012), Napier
Serial No. NZ403460. Buchenwald No. 78407



	Flight Lieutenant Malcolm Ford Cullen (1918-2002), Maungaturoto
Serial No. NZ421963. Buchenwald No. 78388










1 INTO THE NIGHT


‘DEAR GOD IN HEAVEN, WHAT is this place?’ exclaimed the weary Canadian airman. Moments earlier, the solid wooden door of the railway cattle truck had been rolled open from the outside and a sudden burst of daylight had flooded the crowded, stinking interior. As he stared out into the vista that lay beyond the door, the young man’s face seemed to sag. He shuddered and repeated himself, this time in an awed whisper. ‘Dear God in heaven!’

Squatted uncomfortably beside him on a small patch of damp, filthy straw, Flight Sergeant Ray Perry, from the small wheatbelt town of Belka in Western Australia, took in the growing expression of horror on his companion’s dirt-streaked face. He wondered if he presented a similar sight in the crushed motley of humanity. The man’s rumpled shirt and trousers, ill-fitting on his trim, athletic frame, bore evidence of the nightmare five-day journey they had endured on a forced evacuation from the besieged city of Paris. Like everyone, he was soaked in sweat, covered in filth and scraps of straw, and stank of urine and faeces. As Perry’s eyes swept around the other grimy, bearded faces, he finally decided that he and the Canadian would be quite indistinguishable from the others, all of whom were now blinking owlishly in the unaccustomed sunlight.

As they stared out at their destination, the expressions on the faces of the other men were rapidly changing from a glazed resignation to one of horrified incredulity. They did not want to believe what they were seeing.

Immediately beyond the siding platform was a high wire fence surrounding a cluster of squat buildings, but it was the sight of the men toiling within this fence that shocked the new arrivals. Emaciated men and boys with close-cropped hair shuffled around in ragged, striped pyjama-like tunics, wearily going about their appointed tasks. Stoically indifferent to anything but the frenzied shouts and unrestrained blows of the German guards, their expressions spoke of the inhumanities they had endured as they shuffled along.

A few metres from the hissing locomotive, a barely adequate army of these barefooted living corpses endeavoured to haul a rough wooden cart overloaded with newly quarried rocks along a dusty incline. As they strained and dragged and pushed the cumbersome vehicle, they were dispassionately flogged by two uniformed SS guards. Ferocious dogs snapped and tore at their legs, and they worked with a desperation that only fear of pain or death can induce.

Shrill cries and the guards’ strident orders silenced the frightened hubbub of conversation in Ray Perry’s cattle truck, and moments later three thick-set guards appeared at the open doorway, screaming and waving at the occupants to get out. Their faces red with exertion and anger, their tirade continued as they grasped those nearest the door and hauled them out head-first onto the concrete platform.

Eventually, the train had disgorged its human cargo, and the guards had whipped their charges into a long column, five abreast. Ray Perry was nursing a painful shoulder where the end of a club had connected. Tears stung his cheeks, but he suffered the pain with mute determination.

For the mass of captured airmen and French prisoners, this display of cruelty was a stark prelude to the living nightmare they were about the enter and endure – a place far more deserving of Tennyson’s line, ‘Into the jaws of death, / Into the mouth of Hell’, than that to which the words had originally applied.

A sign mounted at the station had read Buchenwald – that is, Forest of Beeches. It was once a peaceful wooded area, where philosophers such as Goethe and Schiller had sat and mused, their thoughts nurtured amid the lush tranquillity and raw-scented beauty. But Buchenwald was now a corruption, a blasphemy encircled by centuries-old trees.

Eventually the column of prisoners was forced to move out of the railway siding at the double and onto a stony concrete road they would come to know as the Caracho Way, or the ‘Street of Blood’.

It was 20 August 1944 – a day Ray Perry would never forget – and as he was shuffled along towards the gates of a large enclosure, he thought about the irony of the date. This day of pain and realisation, of terror and uncertainty, was also his twenty-first birthday.



More than three months had passed since that fateful day when Ray Perry had parachuted through the skies over France and found himself in the midst of the enemy he had flown over and bombed so many times. Earlier, back at their 466 (RAAF) Squadron base in Leconfield, Yorkshire, there had been little to distinguish that day from so many others; breakfast with his crew, the ops briefing at which they learned of their target, and the usual nervous excitement that evening as he clambered aboard dear old Halifax Mk III, LV 943, given the identifier ‘G-George’.

In the early hours of 7 May 1944, the crew took off from Leconfield, and the Halifax clawed a noisy passage into the almost cloudless night. Apart from English engineer Jack Dickens, they were an all-Australian crew under the command of Flying Officer Edmund (Ted) Hourigan. This was their thirteenth operation as a crew, and the portent of bad fortune evinced by that number was not lost on them. They were on ops that night as part of a 149-bomber force detailed to attack a railway marshalling yard at Mantes-Gassicourt (now known as Mantes-la-Jolie), 50 kilometres west of Paris.

In most respects the operation did not appear to be as dramatic as previous sorties, which had included four ops to the heavily-defended Berlin. Ground defences in their target area were reported to be light, but as they headed out over the Channel, bomb aimer Perry and navigator Chris Cullen talked for a short time on the less palatable aspects of the raid. They would be flying over France at 10,000 feet in bright moonlight, and the bomber force could easily be seen by prowling German fighters.

At this stage of the war, many small raids were being carried out on marshalling yards and similar objectives in north-western Europe, preparatory to the planned land invasion. Twelve Halifax bombers had taken to the skies that night from Leconfield, which lay 16 kilometres north of Kingston upon Hull, but only eleven of that number were destined to return. Operation No. 13 would indeed prove unlucky for Ted Hourigan and the crew of ‘G-George’. They managed to drop their bombs across the line of glowing markers, but as the aircraft swung for home it was pounded by cannon fire from an unsighted enemy fighter. Hourigan threw the lumbering aircraft into desperate corkscrewing manoeuvres, but when he finally levelled out to allow his crew a chance to assess the damage they were hit again, and this time the shattered Halifax erupted into flames. Hourigan ordered his crew to bale out. Ray Perry vividly recalls the ensuing moments:


In the Halifax aircraft the escape hatch was in the floor of the plane near the front; in fact under the navigator’s seat. The drill was for the navigator to tip up his table and shift his chair, put on his chest-type parachute pack, undo the hatch and jettison it before going out feet-first. As the bomb aimer, I was in the nose of the plane and went out second, followed by the wireless operator. During this time, the engineer put on his own pack and also the pilot’s pack for him. The mid-upper gunner could either come up front or go out the back of the plane, while the rear gunner centred his turret to reach inside the plane to get his chute pack, then turned his turret hard to port or starboard and tumbled out backwards.

I got about half out of the hatch when the back of my chute harness caught on the edge of the hatch. With the wind dragging on my legs I couldn’t ease myself back up to free myself, but soon felt a heavy foot on my shoulder which quickly solved the problem, and I was out. Not knowing how much height we had lost, I quickly pulled the ripcord and was soon floating comfortably down, wondering what the future held. We were very fortunate, as the seven of us made successful landings and survived.



Ray Perry had landed in a field. Rapidly bundling up his parachute canopy, harness and Mae West inflatable jacket, he headed for a nearby wood where he quickly buried the lot under some leaves and fallen branches. Later that morning, having rested in the shelter of the wood, he approached some French people in a nearby farmhouse and though no one spoke English, he managed to convey his desperate situation to them. After enjoying some bread and a cup of thick, steaming coffee, he was shown to a bedroom and told to rest. He woke at midday and was told to take off his flying clothes, watch and identity discs. He was then handed a pair of well-worn trousers and a shirt, both of which were too large for him, but a length of string tied around his waist kept the baggy pants at full mast. Shoes, fortunately the right size, were produced, and finally a beret which had seen better days. He was given another small meal and then a newcomer arrived at the house, bringing with him two bicycles. Perry was instructed through words and gestures that he should pedal along behind this man, while maintaining a safe distance so they would not appear to be together.


I was provided with a French identity card and knew then that I was in with the Underground. I gathered that if any Germans stopped my guide I would, if allowed, just ride on and would be on my own again. If I was stopped, my guide would just continue on and leave me to my own devices. If questioned, I would not divulge who had helped me get civilian clothes or where I had obtained them. I knew if I was caught I would become a prisoner of war, but if the French people were caught it would be a death sentence for them.



As it turned out, the cycle trip was uneventful, and even quite pleasant. The two men finally pedalled into the small town of Ivry. Here Perry followed his guide down a side path to the back of a house, which they entered through a rear door. They were expected, and Perry was introduced to a man and his wife, who made him understand that he was to stay there that night. The following day he was picked up in a car and once again enjoyed an uneventful trip to the village of Rouvres, where he was introduced to an elderly couple living in a petite two-storey house. As before, the couple did not speak any English, and his feeling of loneliness almost overwhelmed that of gratitude for these patriotic people.

Two days later, a spritely lass of about fifteen appeared at the house, and Perry was overjoyed when she addressed him in English. From then on, young Giselle visited the airman two or three times a week, and her visits were a welcome highlight of his days. During one visit she told him that she had received news of Ted Hourigan and Jack Dickens; they were safe and under the care of another Underground group.

After fifteen days, on 23 May, Giselle arrived with two bicycles and told Perry that he was to stay with her family in the neighbouring village of Boncourt.


I met Giselle’s parents Madame and Monsieur Wyatt, and her younger brother Noël. One of the first questions I was always asked was when the invasion of Europe would commence. I had been to Bournemouth on leave in April and had found out that one could only get to the south coast with a special pass, so realised that the invasion would be sometime in the summer, especially as we had been bombing rail targets near the north coast of France and Belgium. I could only tell the French people that I thought it would be in a month or two.

Life there was quite pleasant, but I had to have a French lesson every day, and in a short time I always had to speak French at the meal table. My conversation was very limited at those times, but I’d like to think that I helped the two children with their English. The Wyatts had a radio well hidden in the house and at 1 pm every day would listen to the BBC French news service, following which I would be informed of the main stories. We always referred to it as the invasion of France, they always referred to it as the ‘disembarkation’, and on 6 June, within a few seconds of 1 pm, we knew that the invasion had begun. There was wild excitement in the house and a bottle of special wine, obviously saved for the occasion, was soon uncorked and glasses produced. Some friends arrived soon after and the celebrations continued into the night.



During July, Ray Perry was informed that there were two RAF men staying with the elderly couple back in Rouvres, and it was not long before they paid him a visit. They turned out to be Flying Officer Frank Salt and Flight Sergeant Eric Davis, both of whom had been shot down after the invasion.


With Bastille Day approaching early in July, the Wyatts decided to have a small celebration. Having been a farmer prior to joining up, we had always kept ourselves in meat by killing sheep, so I offered to help with the young goat. The kid was held on a table while its throat was cut so that the blood could be caught in a dish to make black pudding. The stomach and lungs were about all of the animal that was not used. The liver, heart, kidneys, brain, and even the testicles were to be used to bolster the meat ration. On 14 July, Frank Salt and Eric Davis were brought to the Wyatts’ house, and another French family came to assist in the celebrations.



Following the D-Day landings, the Allies made very little progress into France, and the three airmen were becoming increasingly impatient. They could not comprehend at that time the vast amount of armaments and equipment which needed to be transported across the English Channel before the commencement of any major offensive. Eventually they conferred with the Wyatts, asking if the family could arrange for them to be moved a little closer to the front. This was finally done, and after a fond farewell they set off with a member of the Underground and were placed in an empty house in a wood. They stayed there for an exasperating eight days, receiving occasional supplies of food, but were understandably impatient to be on their way.

On 1 August, members of the Maquis (the fighting section of the Resistance movement) arrived and wanted to occupy the house, so the three men were moved to another village. The day after, another member of the Underground arrived and announced that he was to drive them to Paris, and they would soon be back in England. The trio broke into a round of cheers and slapped each other on the back. They would soon be home.



On 7 June 1944, a month after Ray Perry’s aircraft had been shot down, seventeen Lancaster bombers from No. 15 RAF Squadron based at Mildenhall, Suffolk, were detailed for operations against Massy-Palaiseau near Paris. The operation would prove to be one of the most severe reversals suffered by the squadron, losing three aircraft over France and another shot down by enemy fighters over Friston as it crossed the coast into Sussex. Among the missing crews from the operation was that of Lancaster LM 575 ‘H’ belonging to Squadron Leader Phil Lamason, DFC, the Commander of ‘A’ Flight.

The lanky, blue-eyed New Zealander was born in Napier on 15 September 1918, the third of six children for William and Violet Lamason. He grew up in the hardship years of the Depression, but his father’s occupation as a surveyor meant that his father was always fully employed. Then, on Tuesday 3 February 1931, the family survived one of the most violent and catastrophic events in modern New Zealand history. Phil Lamason was only twelve years old that fateful day when an earthquake of massive intensity struck the peaceful coastal town at 10:47 am. It remains New Zealand’s most destructive and deadly seismic activity, registering 7.8 on the Richter scale, and terrorising the local inhabitants over a period of two-and-a-half minutes. Napier and the city of Hastings to the south were devastated, and 256 people lost their lives. Hundreds of buildings were toppled, fierce fires broke out and bridges collapsed, while water and sewage lines were cut. The quake also resulted in coastal regions in and around Napier being lifted by six feet. Evidence of this activity is still quite visible in Napier today, although the town was essentially restored – rebuilt to its former art-deco glory.

Once the full ferocity of the quake had finally subsided, Phil’s shocked parents gave him the task of riding his bicycle around the battered neighbourhood, checking if everyone was okay or needed help, while at the same time reassuring everyone they knew that his family was safe and unharmed.

The following year, Lamason attended Napier Boys’ High School where he became interested in studying agriculture and began looking forward to a future in farming. A fiercely determined youth, he also revelled in the competition of school rugby and boxing, becoming the school’s flyweight champion in 1932, his first high school year. For the rest of his life he would sport a twice-broken and misshapen nose as a legacy and reminder of his tenacity.

In 1936, the Lamason family would suffer a terrible tragedy. On 3 March, William Lamason was in a car with four other men, travelling to Hastings to attend to a church matter, when a goods train slammed into their vehicle at the Waitangi rail crossing. William was killed instantly and another passenger died soon after, while three others, including the driver, were badly injured.

Despite all that had happened in his young life, Lamason remained determined to become a farmer, enrolling in a Department of Agriculture course at the Massey Agricultural College in Palmerston North and then working as a livestock inspector. He had also developed a keen interest in flying, taking lessons at the New Plymouth Aero Club before joining the RNZAF to train as a pilot.

In March 1941, Lamason and his childhood sweetheart Joan Hopkins were married, but they would only have a short time together as man and wife, as he was about to begin pilot training with the RNZAF. Along with other volunteers, he was sent to Canada under the Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS) just four weeks after the wedding ceremony.

Following his training in Canada, Lamason was shipped across to England. His first operational posting was with No. 218 Squadron at RAF Marham, Norfolk, where he received further training on the twin-engine Vickers Wellington bomber. He then began flying bombing sorties over such well-defended targets as Berlin. In February 1942, the squadron would transition to the heavier, four-engine Short Stirling. Once the crew was familiar with the new aircraft, they were flying ops to such hazardous, flak-filled targets as Dusseldorf, Essen, Mannheim, Berlin and Bremen to deliver their bombs. Before too long they had chalked up thirty missions, with Lamason earning the first of his two Distinguished Flying Crosses.

His first DFC was won during an attack on the German city of Pilsen, a strategically important target in the Ruhr, in April 1942. During the return flight, his aircraft was attacked by an enemy fighter and sustained severe damage; the hydraulics were shot away and the turret rendered unserviceable, while a fire broke out in the mid-fuselage area. In the words of the citation: ‘Displaying great presence of mind, Pilot Officer Lamason coolly directed his crew in the emergency and, while two of them dealt with the fire, he skilfully out-manoeuvred his attacker and finally shook him off. By his fine airmanship and great devotion to duty, Pilot Officer Lamason was undoubtedly responsible for the safe return of the aircraft and its crew. This officer has completed 21 sorties and he has at all times displayed courage and ability.’

The bar to his DFC, gazetted on 27 June 1944, also cited continuing ‘courage and devotion to duty of a high order’ and ‘vigorous determination’ in attacks on Berlin and other heavily-defended targets.

On 3 October 1942, now promoted to Squadron Leader, Lamason was appointed a training officer on Short Stirlings at No. 1657 Heavy Conversion Unit at RAF Stradishall in Suffolk. In December 1943 he became operational once again with a posting to No. 15 Squadron at Mildenhall in Suffolk, which was then converting to the four-engine Avro Lancaster. Here he formed the crew with whom he would fly over the next six months. They were engaged in what was known as the Battle of Berlin, a crucial period of the war when aircrew losses were at their highest for Bomber Command. Never afraid to speak up, Lamason had an occasion to warn his station commander that heavy losses could result on a raid to attack Nuremberg on 30/31 March 1944. That evening, a massive raid was planned, with 795 bombers taking part, and Lamason was concerned about the route being taken, especially on a moonlit night. History records that the raid took place as scheduled and a terrible toll resulted, when 95 bombers were lost. Eventually Bomber Command’s attention turned from these massive raids on Germany and their unsustainable aircraft losses to specifically identified targets in France, in preparation for the Normandy landings.

Looking back over more than fifty years, Phil Lamason’s memory of the crew’s final bombing raid – and his 45th sortie – on Massy-Palaiseau on the evening of 7/8 June 1944 is still clear in his mind. As he later revealed, they took off from RAF Mildenhall around 11:50 pm as one of 17 Lancasters heading into France.


Our target was a bridge over the railway line, giving access to troops on their way to the front. There was some low cloud, and we flew in as the first wave of aircraft to attack at eight to nine thousand feet. Unfortunately, we arrived over the target area about half a minute early, before the Mosquitoes had dropped their flares, and I throttled back, not wanting to over-run our objective. It was a bad mistake because I presented the German fighters with an easy target. They attacked, and our right wing exploded into flames. I gave the order to bale out immediately, worked my way out of my seat wearing my navigator-style chute, and jumped. Our aircraft was well alight and as I watched, it just collapsed at the wing roots and went in.

I landed in a field near Trappes about 0200 hours and hid my parachute, harness and Mae West in some bushes. I had sprained my ankle badly but was pleased to come across my navigator, Ken Chapman, a few moments later. We remained together from then on. We walked across country for about two kilometres until we heard some voices. We dropped to our bellies and crawled towards the voices until we recognised the French language. We approached the group who had been watching the raid and Ken, in his rusty French, told them who we were and asked for help. But they didn’t appear to be all that keen to assist us, and pointed us in another direction where they said we might find some help. Soon after, we heard more voices coming from the courtyard of a house. The two of us approached a small group of two or three families who had also been watching and listening to the raid. We declared our identity and were at once taken to a nearby house, where we were given first aid for our injuries, which were minor, a strong alcoholic drink, and a light meal.



Lamason and Chapman were given some additional food which they placed in their pockets, and were escorted to a small wood a kilometre away. They remained hidden that night, and early the next morning a boy of about sixteen brought some more food and told the two men that members of the Resistance would come and arrange to give them shelter. A little later, two French women arrived, one of whom spoke reasonable English. Chapman, from Sussex in England, remembers their first day as evaders being a combination of confusion and uneasiness, but also recalled with fondness the French people who risked their lives to help.


The woman who could speak English welcomed us and gave us a great deal of encouragement by telling us of the work of the French people as a whole against the Germans. She went away and returned later with the local postman, a member of the Resistance. Evidently he just wanted to look at us, but could speak no English. Again they left; we found a clearing in the wood and lay and rested in the sun. At 11 am the English-speaking woman returned with the French boy, carrying a sack of civilian clothes. We gave up our battledress for these, and although we looked a couple of tramps, we could reasonably pass as a couple of French labourers to a dim Jerry.



The two men were instructed to walk to a rendezvous where a car would be waiting for them. With his badly sprained ankle, Lamason had great difficulty and pain in walking the couple of kilometres to the rendezvous point through the wood, but he managed by taking his time and remaining alert. Chapman continues:


After cautiously avoiding two German soldiers repairing telegraph wires, we reached the car containing the driver and his pal, who had been searching for us. The ‘car’ was a contraption with an engine of sorts, with a cab built of wood and numerous holes in the floor. I was to curl up in the back and cover myself with sacking. Phil, donning a beret, sat beside the driver.

The ride was anything but comfortable, and in my position I could see nothing of the countryside. We dodged a couple of German motorcyclists who threw suspicious looks at the car, and arrived at a farmhouse. Here we were taken inside to a good meal. I produced a packet of Players [cigarettes] and our French friends went into raptures. Towards the end of the meal, the son, spying at the gate, ran in to announce a car of German soldiers was approaching and we had to make a hurried exit through the rear window, across the garden, and over an eight-foot gate, which Phil found some difficulty climbing. We ran across a ploughed field, jumped into a running stream, and hid under the stump of a fallen tree. Soon our friends came to say that the Germans had called for water for their car!



Next, the two airmen were taken to a barn near the house until it was considered safe for them to be driven to their first lodgings. They were covered with sacking in the back of the car and eventually pulled up in a side street in the small town of Montfort l’Amaury. Here they were welcomed by Roger Cuillerie, the town locksmith, and his wife Yvonne. Inside the comfortable house, a pleasant surprise awaited them in the shape of George Scott, an American airman. Yvonne produced some more respectable clothing and hid their personal belongings for them while they changed. They stayed with the Cuilleries for five days, never leaving the house except to use the outside toilet, and only then with extreme caution.

One sad event during their stay was the occasion on which the entire village turned out to bury several RAF crewmen killed during the recent raid. Two of Lamason’s crew, tail gunner Flying Officer Tommy Duncan and mid-upper gunner Warrant Officer Robbie Aitken, had been killed in the fatal attack on their Lancaster. Tommy Duncan had died instantly in a hail of fire from the enemy aircraft, while Robbie Aitken left it far too late to bale out and perished when the doomed Lancaster broke up and slammed into the French countryside. The villagers reverently laid wreaths of red, white and blue flowers on the fresh graves in a gesture of respect. Lamason was not to know for some months that his three remaining crew members, Gerry Musgrove, John Marpole and Lionel George, had all managed to successfully evade capture.

George Scott left the house soon after to go to another hiding place. The three men were destined to meet again a few weeks later in less-pleasant circumstances. The day after Scott’s departure, and amid great commotion, a badly burned American fighter pilot was brought to the house, suffering from shock and exposure. Yvonne fussed over the young pilot (whom they only ever knew as Jack, but was later identified as USAAF 2nd Lieutenant John Larkin), applying jelly to his burns and placing him in their double bed. Ken Chapman felt bad about taking up their only other bed.


We implored Yvonne and Roger to take our bed, but they wouldn’t hear of it. Yvonne slept on the divan, Roger on the floor. Next day Roger made a steel-arch affair to raise the clothes off Jack’s badly burnt legs.



On 18 June, an attractive blonde-haired Belgian girl called Marie (real name Anne Marie Errembault), accompanied by two men, picked up Lamason and Chapman in the now-familiar motorised vehicle. She spoke excellent English and told Lamason that arrangements were under way to have them taken out of France, either by aircraft or by train to Spain. With luck, she said, they would be back in England within two weeks. Disguised as painters, sitting amid piles of paint pots, they were soon on the move again. ‘This time,’ Chapman would later relate, ‘we could view the countryside and the lines of German tanks and transport in the woods.’

They finally arrived in the village of Rambouillet and the home of Roger Prompsaud and his wife, who gave the airmen a cup of black-market tea and a huge bowl of strawberries. That evening they were handed over to Claude Lefebvre, the son of their next benefactor in Rambouillet, Christiane Lefebvre. Her husband had been a commandant in the French army, but he had been captured and was being held in a POW camp in Germany. A little later another RAF airman on the run joined them; he was Flight Sergeant Dick Rowe, who had been shot down a few days earlier. Although Rowe later went his own way, he too was destined to wind up in Buchenwald.

The three airmen remained with the Lefebvres until the morning of 23 June, when they were told to prepare for another move. They gave their sincere thanks to the benevolent mother and son, then were escorted a short distance away by Roger Prompsaud to await their next conveyance. And what a conveyance it turned out to be. They could hardly believe it when the local fire truck pulled up alongside them and the three men were instructed to don fire helmets and coats. Feeling incredibly conspicuous, but pleased to be on the move again, they noted with some alarm a few bullet holes in the canvas cab of the tender which Prompsaud casually explained were the result of a fighter attack.

Just outside the village of Chevreuse, on the side of a hill, the fire engine chugged to a halt by the wayside, where they were met once again by Marie, together with Maurice Cherbonnier, the village librarian. They removed the firemen’s outfits and, trying their best to appear nonchalant, the party of five watchfully strolled into the quaint little village. After walking down a cobbled street, they reached the library and paper shop, where they were greeted by Madame Marie-Thérèse Guillou, the wife of Maurice, and her daughter Janine Cherbonnier. Upstairs, they were introduced to a couple of RAF airmen, Canadian Flight Sergeant Robert Davidson and Sergeant A. Hunter, as well as First Lieutenant Byron Phelps of the USAAF.

Conditions in the tiny flat were crowded, although generally amiable, but it was with a certain amount of relief that Marie arrived on 2 July and said she had to escort two of the airmen to another house. Lamason and Chapman elected to go, and bid the others good luck.

A brisk ten-minute walk soon had them arriving at a large elegant dwelling where they were handed over to Germaine Kalmanson and her two daughters, Denise and Colette. They were shown upstairs to their room, which contained two beds. Even here they had to exercise caution, according to Chapman.


Denise and Colette spoke English fluently, easing matters considerably. Our stay here was very pleasant and we enjoyed it. An unusual thing – Monsieur [Gabriel] Kalmanson was 78 years old, and they did not inform him of our presence in the house. This procedure provided us with endless amusement, and we kept up a regular game of hide and seek!



The two men spent an idyllic fortnight at the house, eating breakfast in bed, sunbaking, and generally helping out in the extensive vegetable gardens at the rear. Eventually the aged Gabriel Kalmanson encountered Chapman going to the toilet, but after his initial alarm, he accepted the situation quite happily and allowed the men to stay.

On the morning of 18 July, word reached Lamason that they were to be moved on to Paris. The girls ironed and pressed their clothes and they all shared an early lunch with a little ‘bon chance’ wine. The Kalmansons were genuinely sorry to see their guests leave, but understood their desire to return to England. After many tears and handshakes, they set off from Chevreuse on foot, in the company of Gabriel and a woman named Janine. They walked for three kilometres until they reached the railway station, where Janine purchased their tickets. Marie was at the station and told them she would take over and escort them to a ‘safe house’ in Paris.

The train was crowded with people, particularly poor folk from Paris who had come to the country to buy, beg or even steal vegetables from the farmers. Lamason and Chapman stood patiently in the crowded carriage as the train slowly edged away from the platform. After a short journey, the passengers had to disembark at Massy-Palaiseau and walk to another train some three kilometres away. Lamason caught Chapman’s eye and winked with a smile. Only weeks earlier they had been above this same place, trying to blow the rail bridge to pieces, and now they had to suffer the general inconvenience inflicted by RAF bombers. Their train was waiting at a bomb-damaged station and they clambered aboard with Marie.

Hours later, the train pulled into the Gare Université and despite their circumstances, the two evaders enjoyed their first sight of the elegant, ancient city of Paris. Liberation, they felt, was now tantalisingly close at hand.



Almost without warning, Jim Gwilliam crashed into the upper branches of a large tree, breaking a painful path downwards to the lower limbs. One branch caught under his parachute harness, slipped up the back of his battle jacket, and bowed under his weight. The red-headed tail gunner from Bathurst in New South Wales found himself in the ignominious situation of being suspended upside-down like a skewered apple, bobbing up and down as he struggled to hit the quick-release button. His whole left side felt numb, but self-preservation gave him strength. After several attempts, he managed to punch the button with sufficient force; the parachute clips disengaged and he fell to the ground, landing heavily just centimetres from a barbed wire fence. As he sat up, he was surprised to note that he was wearing only his right flying boot. Then he recalled the left boot becoming jammed in some twisted metal cladding in his gunner’s turret. He had left it behind in his haste to leave the doomed aircraft.

Gwilliam released himself fully from his harness and was relieved to note that the worrying numbness had been caused by an incorrectly positioned strap. As full feeling and the realisation of his position coursed through him, he looked around in bewilderment and dismay, feeling but hardly noticing the stickiness of fresh blood on his mouth and chin. During his descent, the area around his mouth had been quite painful; he’d spat out blood and pieces of teeth all the way down. Swaying beneath the silken canopy, Gwilliam could not recall hitting anything in his frantic efforts to leave the blazing aircraft. However, the loss of a few teeth did not mean as much as the sight of a fierce fireball which had erupted below him as their brand-new Halifax bomber slammed into the ground. Now, safe and relatively unharmed on the ground, he wondered about the fate of the rest of his crew.

As he pondered his immediate movements, the chimes of a nearby clock tower rang out, and he found himself headed in the direction of the peaceful sound. The delusion of tranquillity was suddenly shattered by the howling sound of several enemy fighter aircraft swooping to a landing at the nearby Montdidier airfield. Gwilliam lay low for a short time, and pulled his escape kit from beneath his jacket. Every airman carried this survival pack, but he never imagined he’d be putting it to use. He stashed the kit in the trunk of a nearby oak tree, intending to retrieve it a little later. Then, settling back against the tree, he went over the events of the past few hours and decided he was lucky to be alive.

It had been the first operational foray for the crew aboard the newly delivered Halifax Mk V, EY.P (‘Peter’), which displayed a mere four hours’ flying time on the clock. They had taken off from Breighton bomber station in South Yorkshire at 2236 hours on the evening of 21 June 1944 as part of a 4 Group Bomber Command attack on Laon, in northern France. Their skipper, Bob ‘Lofty’ Mills, had previously flown a single operation with another crew from 78 Squadron, and was now taking an excited, albeit tense crew on their first bombing raid. The weather boys had forecast a low ceiling of cloud over much of England and France.

No problems were encountered as they passed over the French coast with Calais to port and headed inland. There was a little medium flak directed at them, but the crew were chiefly concerned about German fighters, which they knew were operating in vast numbers over the area. They dropped their load of high explosives and incendiaries and then flew out on a sweeping reciprocal course. Not long after, mid-upper gunner Doug Foden reported to Bob Mills over the intercom that he thought he had seen an aircraft below them. The skipper dipped the port wing, then the starboard, allowing the anxious crew to scan the night skies. Nothing. Then, twelve flying minutes away from the target area, disaster struck.

With terrifying suddenness, the Halifax shuddered and shrieked as 75 mm shells from a Junkers 88 raked the aircraft from below, lancing the port wing tanks. The fuel erupted into flames, which streamed out behind the Halifax’s wing in a fiery, 30-metre contrail. Realising their aircraft was doomed, Bob Mills gave the order for an immediate evacuation.

Navigator Keith Mills (no relation to the pilot) hurriedly stowed his navigation table and seat before donning his parachute. Together with bomb aimer Ian Innes, he attempted to open the escape hatch in the floor of the aircraft. Two hefty kicks finally cleared it and he told Innes to jump, following immediately behind.

Wireless operator Eric Johnston was seated in the front of the Halifax, forward of Keith Mills. With the bale-out order he began to stuff some precious items down the front of his battledress. In went his compact thermos flask, escape kit, and a small koala mascot he always carried as a good luck token. He patiently waited until Innes and Mills had evacuated, remaining with Bob Mills for a few seconds as their skipper initiated a steep dive in an endeavour to extinguish the flames. The attempt proved futile, so he clipped on his chest parachute as Mills scrambled out of the pilot’s seat. Johnston then made his way to the escape hatch, pushed himself out into the fierce slipstream, and as he fell, watched with alarm the roaring display of fire and sparks above him as the tail of the Halifax rushed by. Bob Mills jumped clear just moments later.

Jim Gwilliam would later be reunited with Bob and Keith Mills and Eric Johnston, but he would not know until his eventual return from Germany in 1945 that the rest of his crew had survived. Charlie Wright, the English engineer on an otherwise all-Australian crew, was taken prisoner after running into a German ack-ack battery, while Doug Foden managed to evade capture until the end of the war. Ian Innes established contact with the French Underground and joined forces with them. His efforts with the Underground would earn him a Military Medal for bravery – paradoxically an army decoration.

It had been a tumultuous few hours, but as dawn began to pale the sky, Gwilliam headed off once more on what he hoped might be his first steps to eventual freedom.

On the outskirts of the village whose bell chimes had attracted his attention, Gwilliam came across a small cottage and decided to chance his luck with the occupants. It was difficult sneaking up to the cottage in his single flying boot, but he was soon crouched beneath a window. He raised his head for a furtive glance and took in a small but cosy-looking room with a deal table, two chairs and a bunk in the far corner. A grey-haired man was stretched out on the bunk, fast asleep, his snores quite audible through the window. Raising his head once again, Gwilliam noticed a worn shirt draped over one of the chairs, beneath which stood a pair of muddied boots. It seemed to indicate the man was a farmer, so he decided to take a chance on the man’s patriotism.

Quietly at first, he tapped on the window glass with his fingernails. Then he tapped a little harder with his knuckles. After a few persistent knocks the man’s eyes suddenly snapped open and he looked around in bewilderment. It would be difficult to guess who received the bigger shock as their eyes locked through the window. The man looked in horror at the bloodied apparition outside his house and yelled in fright. Alarmed by the shout, Gwilliam took off. After running a few paces he decided to go back, realising that he had probably frightened the farmer, and retraced his steps to find the man peering around the door. It was a few moments before the farmer took in the dishevelled flying suit and realised who had woken him. Overcoming his fear, he looked around and hurriedly beckoned the airman inside.

By now the farmer’s wife was in the tiny room, clutching her clothes to her chest as she anxiously looked on. Her fear subsided a little when her husband explained their unexpected guest’s identity. Gwilliam picked out the words ‘Ahr-aye-eff’ in the excited dialogue, but she was still wary as she invited him to sit at their table. She then examined the young airman’s blood-streaked face, clucked a little, left the room, and returned with a water-soaked cloth, with which she carefully cleaned up most of the encrusted blood and grime. He was given a small cup of milk, which he drank gratefully, and a welcome mug of strong black coffee. The farmer’s wife cut him a thick slice of bread, which he gingerly chewed on as he tried to communicate with his benefactors.

The small village into which he had stumbled was called Le Tronquoy, and as they began to explain where it was located another man suddenly strode in through the door. He took in the stranger sitting at the table and immediately broke into an animated discussion with the farmer and his wife. The young newcomer was quite suspicious and sat on the end of the bunk, lighting a small pipe as he eyed Gwilliam and his flying clothes. At one stage he pointed the stem of his pipe at the wing-encircled ‘AG’ insignia on Gwilliam’s jacket and asked what was a fairly obvious question in French. After responding by pantomiming his role as an air gunner, the fellow looked at Gwilliam with fresh interest. It seemed he was not family but was a resident in the house. After a short conference, they indicated to their unexpected visitor that he should sit tight while the men went out to retrieve his parachute. He pointed out the direction he had come from and the two Frenchmen set off, returning half an hour later with the parachute bundled up in an old hessian bag. Their arrival was timely; as they walked in the sound of a Focke-Wulf filled the air for some minutes. It was sweeping low, obviously searching for any evading airmen on foot or parachutes in the trees.

At this sound, the husband and wife became quite agitated and the younger man was still uneasy with the airman’s presence. The penalty for harbouring escaping servicemen was imprisonment or death, and even though Jim Gwilliam was still feeling giddy and tired from shock and the smashing blow to his chin, he declared his intention of moving on. They all looked considerably relieved at this, knowing foot patrols might soon be knocking at their door, and saw to it that he was well provisioned for his onward journey, with a little food and a battered pair of sturdy boots. Although reluctant to venture out into open territory once again, he bade them a gratitude-filled farewell and set off.

As he walked along in the morning sunshine, an incautious lethargy crept over Gwilliam – in all probability a traumatic reaction to recent events. Whatever the reason, he found himself wandering without concern down a road heavy with passing traffic, caring little for the German tanks, motorcycles and pushbikes as they passed by. Despite the fact that he was wearing an RAAF uniform with flight sergeant insignia and the word ‘Australia’ on his shoulder tabs, it can only be assumed that the Germans, inured to a vast array of uniforms throughout Europe at that time, did not even give him a second glance. Of course no one would expect an enemy airman to walk along a main road in broad daylight wearing full uniform – apart from his tattered boots.

When the folly of what he was doing finally hit him, Gwilliam snapped out of his torpor and quickly dashed off into a nearby wheat field, running heavily through the chest-high crop. Moments later he blundered into an unseen obstacle and fell heavily. His tumble was accompanied by outraged oaths from the naked couple whose lovemaking had been so violently disturbed. He quickly leapt to his feet and fled the scene as the flustered man continued shouting at him. As he ran, he saw the funny side of that little incident and a mischievous smile crossed his face. Then, hurrying up a rise into a clump of trees, he suddenly stopped dead in his tracks and his smile vanished. Right in front of him stood a massive, camouflaged German Tiger tank.

The shock of this unexpected encounter quickly disappeared when it became apparent the tank was unmanned and there were no Germans in the vicinity. The whereabouts of the tank driver was a mystery, although Gwilliam would later realise that he may have been the upper portion of the coupling he had so rudely interrupted. He had taken little notice of the language used by the man, merely the threatening tone. Inspired by his good fortune, he pressed on.


In the distance I could see a small village, and I moved onto the road which ran towards a small cluster of outlying houses. I was more cautious now, and slowed my pace as I reached a tree-bordered bend on the outskirts of the village of Cuvilly. My caution was justified; just around the bend, four German lorries were parked and two of the drivers were enjoying a smoke. Another pair were relieving themselves in a small ditch by the side of the narrow dirt road, not 30 metres from where I stood. I did an immediate about-face, but as I walked past a two-storey cottage I noticed a woman staring down at me from an upper window, her hand over her mouth in astonishment. She knew exactly what I was. Following this I made a wide circuit of the village, finally withdrawing to the temporary shelter of a huge elm tree on the outskirts of Cuvilly, where I contemplated my next move.



The serenity was shortly broken by the unmistakable sound of a British Merlin engine passing overhead. As Gwilliam peered through the foliage of the elm a solitary Spitfire passed to the north of Cuvilly at about 5,000 feet. His predicament came to him more potently than ever; in just an hour or so, the lucky devil in the Spit would be back at base, enjoying a hot brew with his mates. His stomach rumbled at the thought, but he settled down on the grass and began to nod off.

The rustling of footsteps woke him with a start, and he looked up in alarm into the face of a teenage boy. The lad spoke to him, but he had to indicate that he did not understand the French language. Through the boy’s gesticulations he understood that he was to stay put, following which the young lad walked away, leaving Gwilliam to ponder this new situation. For all he knew the boy might give him away to the Germans. On the other hand, he needed to contact someone he could trust and who could pass him on to the Underground. The boy, he decided, was as good a start as any.

A short time later, the youth returned on a pushbike and urged Gwilliam to straddle up behind him once they got onto the road. The boy turned out to be the son of the woman who had earlier noticed the airman on the road. The ride was uncomfortable and awkward, but he felt that at last something was happening. He managed to enjoy the scenery throughout the 20-minute ride, during which they skirted back around Montdidier. Fortunately for both of them, they did not encounter any enemy soldiers. The pushbike finally crunched to a halt outside a huge house, where they were welcomed by an attractive woman in a simple cotton dress. After a brief exchange, the young guide beckoned Gwilliam to enter. The house was sparsely furnished. An ornate, polished staircase swept upwards to a second level.

The woman was an English schoolteacher whose late husband had owned several cafés in the devastated Pas de Calais area. Over the next four days Gwilliam was able to relax a little. A maid fixed his meals, and he caught up with a lot of missed sleep. He was supplied with a smart set of civilian clothes, and his uniform was taken away and carefully hidden.

The owner assured him that plans were under way to help him, but for the time being he must remain hidden. On the fourth day he noticed a suspicious character hanging around the house and told the woman. She became quite agitated and made arrangements for him to move to another house. That night the young lad took him to a smaller house beside the main road leading into Cuvilly. It had been recently ransacked, and the doors and drawers had been forced open, probably by bayonets. Outside, all manner of German personnel and vehicles passed directly by – all within a couple of metres of the house. It was not an entirely comfortable situation, but every day the maid arrived and brought him some food, while reassuring him in broken English that things were well in hand for his return to England. Apart from her brief daily visits, Gwilliam was alone during the long days and nights and he began to grow anxious; it was only a matter of time before someone came snooping.
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